BEFORE THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-123

ICA EFiled: Jan 09 2023 07:17PM EST Transaction ID 68838222

RONALD HARDY, RALPH MANUEL, EDGEL DUDLESON, RICKY MILLER, JAMES CRUEY, MARK SCOTT, and GARY SCOTT,

Petitioners, Plaintiffs Below,

v.

3M COMPANY; MINE SAFETY APPLIANCES COMPANY, LLC (MSA); AO-C-A (AMERICAN OPTICAL CORPORATION-CABOT CSC CORPORATION-CABOT CORPORATION); EASTERN STATES MINE SUPPLY COMPANY; and RALEIGH MINE AND INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY,

Respondents, Defendants Below.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of McDowell County, West Virginia

PETITIONERS' JOINT APPEAL BRIEF

I. Introduction

To the Honorable Judges of the

Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia:

This joint appeal involves the same respirator manufacturers involved in *State ex rel. 3M Co. v. Hoke*, 244 W.Va. 299, 304, 852 S.E.2d 799, 804 (2020), where the West Virginia Supreme Court gave the following summary of the facts:

> The central allegation in the Attorney General's case is that cach of the **defendants designed**, **manufactured**, **and then delivered respirators and dust masks in West Virginia that did not do what they were supposed to do: protect workers from dust-related illnesses**. The Attorney General asserts that each defendant knew its products did not work as advertised. Despite that knowledge, each defendant engaged in a scheme to hide, from both employers and workers, the limitations and defects of their own products as well as those they discovered in the products of the other defendants and competitors. (Emphasis added).

These respirator manufacturers sought a writ of prohibition asserting that the statute of limitations barred the consumer credit claims asserted by the Attorney General. In *Hoke*, the West Virginia Supreme Court unanimously rejected these arguments concluding that whether or not the claims are barred by the statute of limitations is a fact issue.

In the present case and despite the holding in *Hoke*, once again these same respirator manufacturers along with two distributors argue the products liability claims filed against them by seven coal miners are barred by the statute of limitations. Beginning in the early 1970's, coal miners began wearing government-approved respirators advertised as being designed to protect them from developing various latent respiratory diseases caused by the inhalation of fine particles of coal, sand, and rock.

Respondents 3M Company (Respondent 3M), Mine Safety Appliances Company, LLC (Respondent MSA), American Optical Corporation, Cabot CSC Corporation, and Cabot Corporation (referred to collectively as Respondent AO) were manufacturers of respirators.

Respondent Eastern States Mine and Industrial Supply (Respondent Eastern States) and Raleigh Mine and Industrial Supply (Respondent Raleigh Mine) distributed these respirators.

The coal miners who wore these respirators and the coal companies that purchased these devices had no way of knowing these Respondents had internal studies and memos admitting that these respirators were not suitable for the coal mine environment.¹ Despite this knowledge, Respondents continued to market and sell these respirators knowing they were defective. Through time, many coal miners in West Virginia, Kentucky, and other states developed a variety of latent diseases caused by the inhalation of coal dust and some of these miners began filing products liability complaints against these Respondents. Through the extensive discovery produced in these other cases, the truth about the unsuitability of these respirators and the hidden health hazards they posed to people using them was uncovered and has prompted the filing of many other products liability claims against these Respondents.²

Petitioners Ronald Hardy, Ralph Manuel, Edgel Dudleson, Ricky Miller, Mark Scott and Gary Scott are coal miners who were diagnosed as suffering from pulmonary massive fibrosis ("PMF"), sometimes referred to as complicated pneumoconiosis or complicated black lung. PMF is a purely latent disease that can develop over time due to exposure to coal, rock, and sand dust,

¹ Generally speaking, the respirators at issue are Respondent 3M's 8710, Respondent MSA's Dustfoe 66, and Respondent AO's R2090N. These respirators may no longer be sold because none of them could pass the new standard set by NIOSH. 42 CFR §84.

² While some of the discovery produced in multiple Kentucky cases as well as in the ongoing litigation addressed by the West Virginia Supreme Court in *Hoke* was labeled as confidential and subject to protective orders, in the **JOINT APPENDIX**, samples of the nonconfidential documents, memos, and depositions produced by Respondents in these other cases are included. The **JOINT APPENDIX** does include some documents filed under scal either due to the medical information revealed or because the document is subject to a Kentucky protective order.

including many years after the exposure has ceased, and is not caused by any traumatic event. In August and September, 2021, within two years from the date each of these six Petitioners was diagnosed as or understood that he was or learned that he was suffering from PMF, they timely filed in the Circuit Court of McDowell County separate products liability actions against Respondents, who manufactured or distributed the defective respirators Petitioner was awarded federal black lung benefits because he was determined to suffer from a totally-disabling pulmonary or respiratory impairment arising from his coal mine dust exposure. Within two years from this diagnosis, Petitioner Cruey timely filed his products liability complaint against Respondents in the Circuit Court of McDowell County.³

Petitioners' cases were treated jointly for purposes of discovery and summary judgment. (JA 49). Respondents filed separate motions for summary judgment in all seven cases, asserting that Petitioners' claims were barred by the statute of limitations. The issues were fully briefed and a hearing was held. From the facts raised in the briefs, there are several different occurrences that a properly instructed jury would need to consider in resolving whether or not each Petitioner filed his complaint within the statute of limitations. The West Virginia Supreme Court repeatedly has emphasized that whether a complaint was filed within the statute of limitations is a fact issue to be resolved by the jury. "In the great majority of cases, the issue of whether a claim is barred by the

³ The main difference in the legal analysis applicable to these different Petitioners is that the six Petitioners with PMF assert their complaints were timely filed within two years after their PMF diagnoses, and, alternatively, seek to toll the statute of limitations through the application of the discovery rule, fraudulent concealment doctrine, and latent disease sufficiently pronounced rule. Petitioner Crucy, who has not developed a second latent disease, relies upon the first three theories.

statute of limitations is a question of fact for the jury." (Emphasis added). Gaither v. City Hospital, Inc., 199 W.Va. 706, 714-15, 487 S.E.2d 901, 909-10 (1997).

Respondents, who freely acknowledged in their internal documents that their respirators were not suitable for use in coal mines, argued below, without publicly "admitting to any defects, that it was common knowledge more than two years before any Plaintiff filed suit in these cases that there might be a problem with the masks and respirators and that there might be a connection between the alleged defects in the masks and respirators and the development of lung diseases from inhalation of coal, rock, and sand dust." (Emphasis added). (JA 26).

The Honorable Judge Edward J. Kornish issued a final order on September 7, 2022, ignoring the evidence that Petitioners had timely filed their complaints and taking all inferences in the Movants' favor and instead usurping the role of the jury by holding as a matter of law that the statute of limitations barred these claims. Consequently, the trial court granted summary judgment and all seven cases were dismissed. (JA 1). "This Court encourages Plaintiffs to appeal this *Order* and give the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia an opportunity to review this ruling and give greater clarity to the law for these Plaintiffs, Defendants, and future litigants." (JA 3). Petitioners timely appealed this final order and thereafter this Court entered an order permitting Petitioners to file one joint appeal challenging this final ruling. (JA 47).

Petitioners respectfully submit the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in these seven cases and ask this Court to reverse this final order and remand these cases so that juries can decide all of the issues raised, including whether Petitioners filed their claims within the statute of limitations.

II. Assignments of error

Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment by concluding that Petitioners, who are coal miners diagnosed with latent pulmonary disease, either knew or should have known that the respirators they wore while working in the coal mines caused each relevant pulmonary injury where:

> 1. The West Virginia Supreme Court repeatedly has held that when the statute of limitations begins to run is a question of fact;

> 2. The discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations to the date when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action and is a question of fact; and

> 3. Fraudulent concealment tolls the statute of limitations where the fraud has prevented the plaintiff from knowing of his or her cause of action to the date when the plaintiff learns of the fraudulently concealed facts and is a question of fact?

> > B.

Whether the trial court erred in rejecting the pure latent disease rule applicable in toxic tort cases, where the plaintiff may develop an initial latent exposure-related disease, but later develops a second latent exposure-related disease, which gives rise to a new claim that is not time barred by the initial disease?

III. Statement of the case

A. Pneumoconiosis-related latent diseases

Before discussing the facts relevant to each Petitioner, some background information regarding the latent diseases suffered by Petitioners and an overview of the state and federal administrative procedures available to coal miners to pursue possible black lung benefits is pertinent to the Court's analysis. Pneumoconiosis is a latent disease that can develop years after a coal miner has retired and which may or may not progress to an advanced, totally disabling state often known as complicated pneumoconiosis or PMF. Simply because a coal miner develops a minor pulmonary impairment does not mean the miner will develop PMF. The trial court exhibited a fundamental misunderstanding of these latent pulmonary diseases by asserting that treating PMF as a distinct disease is like saying "that a woman's not pregnant until she delivers the baby nine months later." (JA 808). Pregnancy is a woefully inappropriate analogy to the latent diseases at issue in these cases.

Unlike a pregnancy, there is nothing inevitable or linear about the progression of pneumoconiosis from simple to advanced, which are two medically distinct diseases. First, there is simple pneumoconiosis, and second, there is the advanced disease known as complicated pneumoconiosis or PMF.⁴

PMF is generally defined as a chronic dust disease of the lung which, when diagnosed by chest X-ray yields one or more large opacities (greater than one centimeter in diameter) and would be classified in Category A, B, or C in accordance with the classification system established in Guidelines for the Use of the ILO International Classification of Radiographs of Pneumoconioses.

"This leads us to the Supreme Court's description of the two types of pneumoconiosis, which, of course, we follow: `pneumoconiosis...is generally regarded by physicians as seldom productive of significant respiratory impairment" whereas "[c]omplicated pneumoconiosis is generally far more serious, involves progressive massive fibrosis [and] usually produces

⁴Petitioners' expert pulmonologist Dr. Leonard Go, M.D., explained in Petitioner Hardy's report: "Coal mine dust lung disease is a spectrum of lung disease that includes not only coal workers' pneumoconiosis, mixed-dust pneumoconiosis, and silicosis, but also obstructive lung disease such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, as well as pulmonary fibrosis known as dust-related diffuse fibrosis." (JA 580).

significant pulmonary impairment and marked respiratory disability, [which] may induce death by cardiac failure, and may contribute to other causes of death.' *Usery v. Turner Elkhorn Mining Co.*, 428 U.S. 1, 7, 96 S.Ct. 2882, 49 L.Ed.2d 752 (1972) (citing Surgeon General's report)." *Perry v. Mynu Coals, Inc.*, 469 F.3d 360, 361 (4th Cir. 2006).

In the state system, a coal miner may be awarded black lung benefits based upon the miner's demonstrated degree of functional impairment, *i.e.*, how much air can the miner exhale in one second relative to the amount predicted for a person of the miner's age and height, or how much CO2 the miner can exhale for every unit of oxygen that the miner inhales. Presently, black lung benefits are awarded for 10%, 15%, and on up incrementally to totally-disabling impairment. In the federal system, there are two ways to qualify for black lung benefits. First, a coal miner can qualify by demonstrating totally-disabling pulmonary impairment (there is no 10% or partial impairment option). Second, a coal miner can qualify by proving that the miner has PMF. Of course, merely because a coal miner has applied either for State or federal black lung benefits does not mean the miner has black lung.

Finally, the diagnosis of any level of pneumoconiosis is a complex medical determination where often there are disagreements between the various health care providers who analyze the relevant records. This fact pattern is repeated in virtually all of the administrative claims filed by Petitioners. For example, Dr. Go explained in his report issued after reviewing the medical records of Petitioner Crucy that at the time of the report, Petitioner Crucy presently suffers from advanced, totally-disabling pneumoconiosis. However, Dr. Go noted that before Petitioner Crucy was awarded federal black lung benefits in September 2020, the most recent x-rays reviewed were found to be totally negative for pneumoconiosis by no less than all four of the experts who reviewed them. (JA 595).

In this administrative system, the coal miner seeking benefits has to rely on the experts who review the medical records. The mere fact that a coal miner files a claim seeking black lung benefits is no evidence that the coal miner actually has some PMF or any specific latent pulmonary disease or that the experts who review the medical records will uphold the claim. Ultimately, a coal miner cannot know that he or she has a particular latent disease related to exposure to coal dust unless and until the disease is confirmed by the experts and that opinion is communicated to the miner.

B. Standard of review

Whether or not the statute of limitations has expired is a fact intensive analysis. The challenge in this joint appeal involving seven separate Petitioners is to make sure the facts relevant to each Petitioner are considered. Before separately addressing Petitioners' individual facts, the following legal principles, which will be discussed in more detail in Part VI of this **BRIEF**, govern this factual analysis.

First, all facts and reasonable inferences must be reviewed in the light most favorable to Petitioners.⁵ Furthermore, at the summary judgment stage, the court's role is not to weigh the evidence or discern the truth, but rather is to determine whether there are genuine issues of material fact.⁶ Although the final order references these standards, the trial court failed to apply them correctly and resolved disputed material facts, weighed the evidence, and foreclosed a jury from resolving the statute of limitations issue based upon all of the evidence presented.

⁵ Bowden v. Monroe County Commission, 239 W.Va. 214, 218, 800 S.E.2d 252, 256 (2017).

⁶ Syllabus Point 3 of *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994); *see also Goodwin v. Shaffer*, 246 W.Va. 354, 873 S.E.2d 885 (2022)(Summary judgment reversed where trial court weighed the evidence and addressed credibility of some witnesses).

Second, the West Virginia Supreme Court repeatedly has held that whether or not a claim is barred by the statute of limitations is a jury issue.⁷ The reversible error committed by the trial court in these seven cases was focusing on certain occurrences that a jury could consider in concluding that the statute of limitations did bar the claims, while ignoring the facts that a jury could rely upon in deciding all of the claims had been timely filed.

Third, in applying the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations, the jury has to determine whether the plaintiff who sustained some injury knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known of the elements of a possible cause action, the identity of the defendant who owed a duty to plaintiff and breached that duty, and that the defendant's conduct caused the injury.⁸ As applied in products liability litigation, the jury has to determine whether the defective product had a causal relation to the plaintiff's injury.⁹ The reasonableness of a party's actions and questions of causation always have been left to a jury to decide.¹⁰

Fourth, where a defendant fraudulently conceals facts that prevent a plaintiff from discovering or pursuing a cause of action, such fraudulent concealment can be considered by a jury in deciding the claim was filed within the statute of limitations.¹¹ This equitable rule prevents

⁷ Syllabus Point 5, *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009)("Only the first step is purely a question of law; **the resolution of steps two through five will generally involve questions of material fact that will need to be resolved by the trier of fact."**). (Emphasis added).

⁸ Syllabus Point 4, Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W. Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997).

⁹ Syllabus Point 1, Hickman v. Grover, 178 W.Va. 249, 358 S.E.2d 810 (1987).

¹⁰ Syllabus Point 5 of Hatten v. Mason Realty Co., 148 W.Va. 380, 135 S.E.2d 236 (1964).

¹¹ Syllabus Point 5, *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009); Syllabus Point 6, *Hoke*.

a defendant from having a lawsuit barred by the statute of limitations where the defendant fraudulently concealed critical facts relevant to the plaintiff's cause of action.

Although the foregoing standard of review and legal principles were cited in the final order, the trial court omitted facts and inferences in the light most favorable to Petitioners and failed to apply the foregoing legal principles consistent with decisions by the West Virginia Supreme Court. The trial court also failed to note the conflicting medical information developed in Petitioners' cases where often the medical experts not only disagreed about the proper diagnosis, but sometimes concluded there was no pulmonary disease present. In the summaries below, critical facts omitted by the trial court, but which should be considered by a jury in deciding the timeliness of Petitioners' complaints, are in bold.

C. Petitioner Ronald Hardy

Petitioner Ronald Hardy worked as a coal miner for at least 32 years during the period from 1976 through 1999. (JA 242, 251-52). He wore respirators manufactured by Respondent 3M, but did not wear those respirators 100% of the time that he worked around coal mine dust. He wore Respondent 3M respirators most generally about 30-40% of the time that he worked at various mining operations, typically during the periods of greatest risk of dust exposure. (JA 243-48, 250).

Petitioner Hardy received conflicting medical reports regarding whether or not he suffered from PMF before the United States Office of Workers' Compensation Programs (OWCP), which initially resolved the conflicting factual records by concluding Petitioner Hardy did suffer from PMF. On June 13, 2018, Petitioner Hardy applied for federal black lung benefits. (JA 183). On October 2, 2018, the OWCP issued a schedule for the submission of additional evidence. The employer developed contrary medical evidence indicating that Petitioner Hardy did not suffer from PMF or any form of black lung. On April 26, 2019, Dr. Robert Tarver authored a B-reading of an x-ray taken of Petitioner Hardy on July 31, 2018, which Dr. Tarver read as negative for any black lung. (JA 254). Dr. Gregory Fino authored a B-reading of an x-ray taken on December 12, 2018, which Dr. Fino read as negative for any black lung. (JA 257). On March 10, 2020, Dr. Kim Adcock authored a B-reading of an xray taken on February 20, 2020, and Dr. Adcock read the image as negative for any black lung. (JA 260).

Consequently Petitioner Hardy was, quite reasonably, unsure whether or not he had black lung or PMF until the Department of Labor actually started sending him his monthly benefits and his black lung medical benefits card:

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