In the

ICA EFfled: Feb 23 2023 11:42AM EST Transaction ID 69203636

Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia

Ronald Hardy, Ralph Manuel, Edgel Dudleson, Ricky Miller, James Cruey, Mark Scott, and Gary Scott,

Petitioners,

V.

3M Company, Mine Safety Appliances Company, LLC, American Optical Corporation, Cabot CSC Corporation, Cabot Corporation, Eastern States Mine Supply Company, and Raleigh Mine and Industrial Supply,

Respondents.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of McDowell County Case Nos. 21-C-41, -42, -43, -44, -48, -51, & -52

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 3M COMPANY

Bryant J. Spann (WV Bar #8628)

Robert H. Akers (WV Bar #9622)

Elizabeth L. Taylor, Esq. (WV Bar #10270)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly recognized that Petitioners' claims were time-barred. Its judgment should be affirmed.

More than two years before filing these lawsuits, Petitioners were (1) diagnosed with CWP or other lung disease caused by inhaling coal mine dust, (2) knew that they

⁶⁷ R.809-10.

⁶⁸ R.510-49.

⁶⁹ R.1-46.

⁷⁰ R.3-15.

⁷¹ R.45.

had worn 3M respirators while exposed to coal mine dust, and (3) agreed that they had expected the respirators to prevent CWP or other lung disease caused by inhaling coal mine dust. That is all they needed to know to bring these lawsuits.

Subsequent decisions of the Supreme Court of Appeals (*Collins*) and the Fourth Circuit (*Teets*) confirm this analysis. *Collins* and *Teets*, like these consolidated cases, involved former coal miners who sued respirator manufacturer more than two years after being diagnosed with the CWP they said they had worn the respirators to prevent. Applying well-established West Virginia law on the statute of limitations, both courts affirmed summary judgments.

Petitioners offer this Court no persuasive reason to depart from the Supreme Court of Appeals' and Fourth Circuit's holdings. Their arguments conflate the accrual of tort claims with the requirements of federal and state workers' compensation benefits programs. The circuit court correctly refused to extend tort law along the lines Petitioners suggest. The circuit court also correctly declined their invitation to hold that simple CWP is not an injury for tort purposes.

The circuit court also correctly ruled that because Petitioners presented no evidence of fraudulent concealment, that doctrine did not toll the statute of limitations. Fraudulent concealment requires proof that the defendant said or did something to prevent the plaintiff from learning about a possible cause of action. Although Petitioners crammed the record with what they say is evidence that 3M committed fraud, none of that evidence—which the circuit court considered—establishes 3M said or did anything to prevent Petitioners from learning of their possible claims.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is unnecessary. The circuit court's well-reasoned order correctly granted summary judgment, and the dispositive issue has been authoritatively decided by subsequent decisions of the Supreme Court of Appeals and Fourth Circuit. 72 The central issue—application of the statute of limitations—is governed by settled law, and the record and briefs adequately present the cases. Argument would not significantly aid this Court's decisional process. 73

Dozens of similar cases brought by more than 400 coal miners—often years or decades untimely—are pending across West Virginia. In its opinion and order granting summary judgment in these cases, the circuit court urged the appellate courts to ensure courts and litigants know how this recurring limitations issue should be resolved going forward. This Court should issue a detailed, precedential opinion reinforcing that such time-barred claims are appropriately resolved on summary judgment. Doing so will help circuit courts and litigants efficiently clear dockets clogged with untimely cases.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment "shall be rendered" when the evidence on file "show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."⁷⁵ A summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*.⁷⁶

⁷² W. Va. R. App. P 18(a)(3).

⁷³ W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(4).

See, e.g., R.807-08 (circuit court referencing hearing on discovery issues in other pending respirator cases); R.2 (stating appeal would "give greater clarity to the law").
 The circuit court did so without the benefit of the affirmances in *Collins* and *Teets*.

⁷⁵ W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

Dunn v. Rockwell, 225 W. Va. 43, 50, 689 S.E.2d 255, 262 (2009) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly concluded that no genuine issue of material fact exists as to the timeliness of Petitioners' claims. Their medical records, testimony, and sworn benefits applications establish that they knew, or reasonably should have known the facts underlying their claims more than two years before filing suit. The circuit court also correctly rejected Petitioners' assertion of fraudulent concealment, because they have no evidence 3M prevented them from learning of their claims. The judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

I. The circuit court correctly concluded that Petitioners' claims are untimely.

More than two years before filing these lawsuits, Petitioners knew that: inhaling coal mine dust could cause lung diseases including CWP; they had worn respirators to prevent disease; and they had been diagnosed with CWP or other lung disease. The circuit court correctly concluded that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to their claims' timeliness.

A. The discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations until the claimant knew, or should have known, of a possible claim.

West Virginia's "bedrock precedent" holds that "the statute of limitations begins to run when a plaintiff has knowledge of the fact that something is wrong and not when he or she knows of the particular nature of the injury." Distilling this bedrock precedent, *Dunn v. Rockwell* established adopted a "step-by-step process" to be

Goodwin v. Bayer Corp., 218 W. Va. 215, 221, 624 S.E.2d 562, 568 (2005) (citing Harrison v. Seltzer, 165 W. Va. 366, 371, 268 S.E.2d 312, 315 (1980); Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W. Va. 706, 712, 487 S.E.2d 901, 907 (1997); & McCoy v. Miller, 213 W. Va. 161, 166, 578 S.E.2d 355, 360 (2003)).

"applied to determine whether a cause of action is time-barred." Syllabus Point 5 of *Dunn*, set out below, provides this step-by-step process; and the circuit court correctly recognized that this original syllabus point supplies the rule of law it had to apply:

First, the court should identify the applicable statute of limitations for each cause of action. Second, the court (or, if questions of material fact exist, the jury) should identify when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute of limitations began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action, as set forth in Syllabus Point 3 of Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W. Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997). Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the cause of action. Whenever a plaintiff is able to show that the defendant fraudulently concealed facts which prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the potential cause of action, the statute of limitation is tolled. And fifth, the court or the jury should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine. Only the first step is purely a question of law; the resolution of steps two through five will generally involve questions of material fact that will need to be resolved by the trier of fact. 79

Petitioners agree that *Dunn* controls.80

Under *Dunn*'s third step, the discovery rule tolls the two-year tort statute of limitations "until a claimant knows or by reasonable diligence should know of his claim." So, the "statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence, should know (1) that the plaintiff has been injured, (2) the identity of the entity who owed the plaintiff a duty to act with due care, and who may

⁷⁸ Dunn, 225 W. Va. at 52-53 689 S.E.2d at 264-65.

Syl. Pt. 5, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255; *see* R.16-17 (circuit court quoting this syllabus point); R.695 (circuit court describing this at hearing); Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014) (original syllabus points have highest precedential value).

⁸⁰ R.764 (discussing *Dunn*); Petitioners' Br. 33.

⁸¹ *Id.* (quoting *Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 199 W. Va. 706, 711, 487 S.E.2d 901, 906 (1997)).

have engaged in conduct that breached that duty, and (3) that the conduct of that entity has a causal relation to the injury."82 The statute "begins to run when a plaintiff has knowledge of the fact that something is wrong."83

"[W]hether a plaintiff 'knows of' or 'discovered' a cause of action is an objective test. The plaintiff is charged with knowledge of the factual, rather than the legal, basis for the action. This objective test focuses upon whether a reasonable prudent person would have known, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action."84

In a products liability case, the plaintiff does not need to know that a product was defectively designed or manufactured for the statute of limitations to begin running.⁸⁵ "[S]uch knowledge is often not known with legal certainty until after the jury returns its verdict."⁸⁶ Requiring knowledge of the defect would "almost abrogate the statute of limitations in products liability claims."⁸⁷

When there is no genuine issue of material fact on these steps' application, courts must resolve the statute of limitations on summary judgment.⁸⁸ Syllabus point 5 of

⁸² *Id.*, 225 W. Va. at 52-53, 689 S.E.2d at 264-65 (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, *Gaither*, 199 W. Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901).

⁸³ Goodwin, 218 W. Va. at 221, 624 S.E.2d at 568 (citations omitted).

⁸⁴ Syl. Pt. 4, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 868 S.E.2d 255.

⁸⁵ *Hickman v. Grover*, 178 W. Va. 249, 253, 358 S.E.2d 810, 814 (1987).

⁸⁶ *Id.*

⁸⁷ *Id.*

See, e.g., Collins v. Mine Safety Appliances Co., No. 21-0621, 2022 WL 10084174, at *1-3 (W. Va. Oct. 17, 2022) (memorandum decision). The Supreme Court of Appeals has even affirmed granting a motion to dismiss based on the statute of limitations when the pleadings establish the claims are time-barred. *Richards v. Walker*, 244 W. Va. 1, 7-8, 813 S.E.2d 923, 929-30 (2018) (citing Syl. Pt. 5, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255).

Dunn recognizes that, although some cases will involve genuine issues of material fact to be resolved by a jury, courts should resolve the cases that do not.⁸⁹ *Dunn* itself affirmed a circuit court's order granting summary judgment on the statute of limitations.⁹⁰

The Supreme Court of Appeals has not hesitated to affirm summary judgments based on the statute of limitations. ⁹¹ About a month after the circuit court's ruling here, for example, the Court affirmed summary judgment that a similarly situated miner's tort claims against MSA were time-barred. ⁹² In that case, just like these, it was "undisputed that [the plaintiff] knew from the outset of his mining career that coal mine dust could cause black lung, the specific respirator he contends he used throughout his career, and the date of his black lung diagnosis," meaning his "diagnosis triggered his duty to investigate the cause of his injury." ⁹³ Because the plaintiff "failed to timely file his action," a reasonable jury would have had insufficient evidence to find for the plaintiff, and the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment. ⁹⁴ Applying *Dunn*, the Fourth Circuit reached the same conclusion just a few days later. ⁹⁵

⁸⁹ Syl. Pt. 5, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255.

⁹⁰ Id., 225 W. Va. at 63-64, 689 S.E.2d at 275-76. Another order, on different claims, was reversed because genuine issues of material fact remained for those claims. See id.

See, e.g., Goodwin v. Bayer Corp., 218 W. Va. 215, 220, 624 S.E.2d 562, 567 (2005) (rejecting plaintiff's reliance on language that statute of limitations is often a jury question; "[T]his Court has, on more than one occasion, affirmed summary judgment in cases where the undisputed facts establish that the suit was time-barred pursuant to the applicable statute of limitations." (collecting cases)).

⁹² *Collins*, 2022 WL 10084174, at *1-3.

⁹³ *Id.* at *2.

⁹⁴ *Id*.

⁹⁵ Teets v. Mine Safety Appliances Co., LLC, No. 21-1834, 2022 WL 14365086, at *1-3 (4th Cir. 2022) (unpublished).

B. No one disputes *Dunn* step 1.

Dunn's first step is to identify the statute of limitations. The parties agree that W. Va. Code \S 55-2-12's two-year statute of limitations applies. ⁹⁶

C. The circuit court correctly concluded that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to *Dunn* steps 2 and 3.

There is no genuine issue of material fact regarding *Dunn*'s second step (determining when the elements occurred) or third step (whether the discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations).

1. Invasion of any legally protected interest counts as an injury.

Analyzing steps 2 and 3 requires identifying the elements of the claims.

Petitioners' complaints sound in strict liability, negligence, breach of warranty, and fraud, all requiring proof that the defendant caused the plaintiff's injury. ⁹⁷ Analyzing the discovery rule likewise requires considering when the plaintiff knew, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that (1) he was injured, (2) the identity of the defendant, and (3) that the injury could be causally connected to the defendant. ⁹⁸

⁹⁶ Petitioners' Br. 42; R.21.

^{E.g., R.61-69 (Hardy's complaint); see C.C. v. Harrison Cty. Bd. of Educ., 245 W. Va. 594, 603, 859 S.E.2d 762, 771 (2021) (negligence); Bowling v. Ansted Chrysler-Plymouth-Dodge, Inc., 188 W. Va. 468, 472, 425 S.E.2d 144, 148 (1992) (fraud); Anderson v. Chrysler Corp., 184 W. Va. 641, 646-47, 403 S.E.2d 189, 194-95 (1991) (breach of warranty requires "same evidentiary showing" as strict liability); Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 162 W. Va. 857, 891, 253 S.E.2d 666, 684 (1979) (strict liability).}

⁹⁸ Syl. Pt. 5, *Dunn*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d at 255.

In tort, a plaintiff is injured when any legally protected interest is invaded. ⁹⁹ For example, the claims of a plaintiff who discussed injuries with his medical providers were not tolled by the discovery rule; they accrued when he was injured, making his lawsuit more than two years later untimely. ¹⁰⁰ A miner's application for federal black lung benefits likewise showed that "he knew or should have known that he had suffered an invasion of his legally protected interests." ¹⁰¹ So did another miner's application for Kentucky compensation benefits, which certified he had CWP. ¹⁰²

Statutory compensation regimes impose their own requirements. The federal black lung benefits program, for example, requires beneficiaries to be totally disabled to qualify. ¹⁰³ But those statutory requirements have nothing to do with the West Virginia tort claims at issue here.

2. The Supreme Court of Appeals and Fourth Circuit have confirmed that diagnoses of lung diseases count as injuries.

In decisions rendered after the circuit court's decision, the Supreme Court of Appeals and Fourth Circuit confirmed that a plaintiff's diagnosis with black lung qualifies as an injury. In *Collins*, the Supreme Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment against a plaintiff diagnosed with black lung more than two years before suing

Bower v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 206 W. Va. 133, 139, 522 S.E.2d 424, 430 (1999)
 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 7(1) (1964)).

Smith v. Velotta Co., No. 15-0228, 2016 WL 597743, at *4 (W. Va. Feb. 12, 2016) (memorandum decision).

Adams v. 3M Co., No. 12-61-ART, 2013 WL 3367134, at *3 (E.D. Ky. July 5, 2013).

¹⁰² Roark v. 3M Co., 571 F. Supp. 3d 708, 712-13 (E.D. Ky. 2021).

See, e.g., E. Assoc. Coal Corp. v. Dir., Off. of Workers' Comp. Progs., 805 F.3d 502, 504-05 (4th Cir. 2015).

a respirator manufacturer.¹⁰⁴ The "date of his black lung diagnosis" was the date of his injury.¹⁰⁵ The Fourth Circuit reached the same conclusion, reasoning when the plaintiff was diagnosed, the plaintiff "knew that he had been injured." ¹⁰⁶

3. Petitioners were injured (for purposes of the statute of limitations) when diagnosed with CWP or other lung diseases.

The circuit court correctly concluded there is no genuine dispute about when Petitioners were diagnosed with CWP or other lung diseases. Their testimony and medical records establish that each was diagnosed more than two years before filing suit. 107

More than two years before filing, each Petitioner except Gary Scott applied for federal black lung benefits, representing to the federal government that he believed he had CWP or other lung disease resulting from coal mine employment. ¹⁰⁸ By applying for federal black lung benefits, a miner certifies under penalty of fine or imprisonment that he believes he is disabled "due to pneumoconiosis (Black Lung) or other respiratory or

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